

Maryland Health Benefit Exchange

Expedited Request for Proposal (RFP)

MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement

SOLICITATION NO.: MDM0031033967

Issue Date: July 28, 2017

NOTICE

Prospective Bidders who have received this document from the Maryland Health Benefit Exchange's web site or eMarylandMarketplace.com, or who have received this document from a source other than the Procurement Officer, and who wish to assure receipt of any changes or additional materials related to this RFP, should immediately contact the Procurement Officer and provide their names and mailing addresses so that addenda to the RFP or other communications can be sent to them.

Minority Business Enterprises are Encouraged to Respond to this Solicitation

STATE OF MARYLAND NOTICE TO VENDORS

In order to help us improve the quality of State solicitations, and to make our procurement process more responsive and business friendly, we ask that you take a few minutes and provide comments and suggestions regarding this solicitation. Please return your comments with your response. If you have chosen not to respond to this Contract, please email or fax this completed form to the attention of the Procurement Officer (see Key Information Sheet below for contact information).

Title: MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement Solicitation No: MDM003103967

1.	If you have chosen not to respond to this solicitation, please indicate the reason(s) below:
()	Other commitments preclude our participation at this time.
()	The subject of the solicitation is not something we ordinarily provide.
()	We are inexperienced in the work/commodities required.
()	Specifications are unclear, too restrictive, etc. (Explain in REMARKS section.)
()	The scope of work is beyond our present capacity.
()	Doing business with the State of Maryland is simply too complicated. (Explain in REMARKS section.)
()	We cannot be competitive. (Explain in REMARKS section.)
()	Time allotted for completion of the Bid/Proposal is insufficient.
()	Start-up time is insufficient.
()	Bonding/Insurance requirements are restrictive. (Explain in REMARKS section.)
()	Bid/Proposal requirements (other than specifications) are unreasonable or too risky. (Explain in REMARKS section.)
()	MBE requirements. (Explain in REMARKS section.)
()	Prior State of Maryland contract experience was unprofitable or otherwise unsatisfactory.
	(Explain in REMARKS section.)
()	Payment schedule too slow.
()	Other:
2. concer REMAI	If you have submitted a response to this solicitation, but wish to offer suggestions or express rns, please use the REMARKS section below. (Attach additional pages as needed.).
.,	
vendo	r Name: Date:
Contac	ct Person: Phone ()
Addres	ss:
E-mail	Address:

MARYLAND HEALTH BENEFIT EXCHANGE KEY INFORMATION SUMMARY SHEET MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS # - MDM0031033967

Invitation For Bids: MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement

Issue Date: July 28, 2017

Procurement Officer: Ms. Michelle Compton

Procurement Officer 750 E. Pratt Street

16th Floor

Baltimore, MD 21202

Phone Number: 410-547-8152

Email: hix.procurement@maryland.gov

Contract Monitor: Mr. Aaron Jacobs

Director of Administrative Services 750 E. Pratt Street, 16th Floor

Baltimore, MD 21202

Procurement Method: Expedited Competitive Sealed Proposals

Proposals are to be sent to: Michelle Compton, Procurement Officer

Maryland Health Benefit Exchange e-mail: hix.procurement@maryland.gov

Note: Proposals are to be emailed to the Procurement Officer at the

e-mail address above

Closing Date and Time: 2:00 PM Eastern Standard Time (EST) on 08/11/2017

MBE Subcontracting Goal: 0 %

Table of Contents

\$	SECTION 1 — BACKGROUND	5
S	SECTION 2 — SCOPE OF WORK	8
S	SECTION 3 – OFFEROR MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS	9
S	SECTION 4— PROPOSAL FORMAT	<u>c</u>
	SECTION 5 — EVALUATION COMMITTEE, EVALUATION CRITERIA AND SELECTION PROCEDURE	14
5	SECTION 6 — ATTACHMENTS	16
1	ATTACHMENT A – LEASE	17
2.	Payment of Rent	18
3.	Operating Expenses.	19
4.	Assignment.	21
5.	Condition Upon Termination.	21
6.	Construction, Improvements, Replacements.	21
7.	Commencement and Occupancy	24
8.	Repairs and Maintenance.	25
9.	Alterations by Lessee.	28
10.	Casualty	29
11.	Utilities	29
12.	Environmental Matters	30
13.	Performance and Lease Inquiries.	32
14.	Right of First Offer.	32
15.	Time is of the Essence.	32
16.	Termination	32
17.	Other.	33
EN	D OF LEASE GENERAL CONDITIONS	38
1	ATTACHMENT B – BID/PROPOSAL AFFIDAVIT	40
	ATTACHMENT C _ CONTRACT AFFIDAVIT	19

SECTION 1 — BACKGROUND

1.1 Background on the Maryland Health Benefit Exchange

The Maryland Health Benefit Exchange ("MHBE") is an independent unit of State government established to provide Maryland's residents and small businesses with the opportunity to compare rates, benefits, and quality among insurance plans and to facilitate individuals' enrollment in plans that best suit their needs. MHBE also evaluates eligibility for expanded Medicaid coverage, advanced premium tax credits ("APTC") and other cost-sharing programs designed to make coverage more affordable for individuals with household incomes below 400 percent of the federal poverty level ("FPL").

1.2 Background on Maryland Health Benefit Exchange Procurement

Under § 31-103 of the Insurance Article of the Maryland Code, the MHBE is subject to the provisions of State law governing procurement by "exempt units." See Md. Code Ann., State Fin. & Proc. § 12-401. The principal body that oversees MHBE procurements is the Maryland Health Benefit Exchange Board of Trustees. This particular procurement is a competitive expedited procurement as allowed under II. C. of the Maryland Health Benefit Exchange Procurement Policies and Procedures, which the Board of Trustees adopted in a resolution dated June 27, 2011, amended July 17, 2017.

1.3 Contract Duration

- 1.3.1 The Contract that results from this solicitation shall commence as of the date the Contract is fully executed by both Parties, following any required approvals of the Contract, including approval by the MHBE Board of Trustees.
- 1.3.2 The duration of the Contract will be for a base term of five (5) years from the Commencement Date (as defined in Attachment A, Standard Lease) for the provision of all services required by the Contract and the requirements of this solicitation. The Contract may be extended for one (1) period of five (5) years at the sole discretion of the MHBE and at the prices proposed for the Option period.

1.4 Economy of Preparation

Proposals should be prepared simply and economically and provide a straightforward and concise description of the Offeror's Proposal to meet the requirements of this RFP.

1.5 Public Information Act Notice

1.5.1 An Offeror should give specific attention to the clear identification of those portions of its Proposal that it considers confidential and/or proprietary commercial information or trade secrets, and provide justification why such materials, upon request, should not be disclosed by the State under the Public Information Act, Md. Code Ann., General Provisions Article, Title 4. (Also, see RFP Section 4.4.2.2 "Claim of Confidentiality"). This confidential and/or proprietary

information should be identified by page and section number and placed after the Title Page and before the Table of Contents in the Proposal.

Offerors are advised that, upon request for this information from a third party, the MHBE is required to make an independent determination whether the information must be disclosed.

1.6 Oral Presentations

Offerors may be required to make oral presentations to State representatives. Offerors must confirm in writing any substantive oral clarification of, or change in, their Proposals made in the course of discussions. Any such written clarifications or changes then become part of the Offeror's Proposal and are binding if the Contract is awarded. The Procurement Officer will notify Offerors of the time and place of oral presentations.

1.7 Duration of Proposal

Proposals submitted in response to this RFP are irrevocable for 120 days following the closing date for submission of Proposals or best and final offers if requested. This period may be extended at the Procurement Officer's request only with the Offeror's written agreement.

1.8 Protest

Any protest related, respectively, to this solicitation or the resulting Contract shall be subject to the provisions of Section VII of the MHBE Procurement Policies & Procedures.

1.9 Electronic Procurements Authorized

- A. Unless otherwise prohibited by law, MHBE may conduct procurement transactions by electronic means, including the solicitation, bidding, award, execution, and administration of a contract, as provided in the Maryland Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, Md. Code Ann., Commercial Law Article, Title 21.
- B. Participation in the solicitation process on a procurement contract for which electronic means has been authorized shall constitute consent by the Offeror to conduct by electronic means all elements of the procurement of that Contract which are specifically authorized under the solicitation or the Contract.
- C. "Electronic means" refers to exchanges or communications using electronic, digital, magnetic, wireless, optical, electromagnetic, or other means of electronically conducting transactions. Electronic means includes facsimile, e-mail, internet-based communications, electronic funds transfer, specific electronic bidding platforms (e.g., https://emaryland.buyspeed.com/bso/), and electronic data interchange.
- D. In addition to specific electronic transactions specifically authorized in other sections of this solicitation (e.g., § 1.9 "Payments by Electronic Funds Transfer"), the following transactions are authorized to be conducted by electronic means on the terms described:

- 1. The Procurement Officer may conduct the procurement using eMM or e-mail to issue:
 - (a) the solicitation (RFP);
 - (b) any amendments;
 - (c) pre-Proposal conference documents;
 - (d) questions and responses;
 - (e) communications regarding the solicitation or Proposal to any Offeror or potential Offeror:
 - (f) notices of award selection or non-selection; and
 - (g) the Procurement Officer's decision on any Bid protest or Contract claim.
- 2. An Offeror or potential Offeror may use e-mail to:
 - (a) ask questions regarding the solicitation;
 - (b) submit the Proposal (including technical and financial);
 - (c) reply to any material received from the Procurement Officer by electronic means that includes a Procurement Officer's request or direction to reply by e-mail, but only on the terms specifically approved and directed by the Procurement Officer;
 - (d) submit a "No Bid/Proposal Response" to the solicitation; and
 - (e) submit documents determined by the MHBE to require original signatures (contract execution or modifications).
- 3. The Procurement Officer, the Contract Monitor, and the Contractor may conduct day-to-day Contract administration utilizing e-mail, facsimile, or other electronic means if authorized by the Procurement Officer or Contract Monitor.
- 4. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.9, MHBE requires all Transmittal Letters, Proposals and any Contract resulting from this RFP to contain original signatures executed in ink by a person authorized to bind the Contractor. However, the Contractor may scan and submit electronically any document containing such original signature(s). The Contract may be signed by the Parties in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which, taken together, shall constitute one and the same Contract.

BALANCE OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

SECTION 2 — SCOPE OF WORK

2.1 Requirements

The Maryland Health Benefit Exchange ("MHBE") requires office space for lease at a single location for the Maryland Health Benefit Exchange as follows:

a) Type and amount

27,000 preferably contiguous net usable square feet +/- 5% office space with client contact

Phase I - 15,000 preferably contiguous net usable square feet Phase II - 12,000 preferably contiguous net usable square feet

b) Location

Baltimore City, Maryland specifically within the area bounded by:

NORTH: E. Baltimore Street
EAST: S. President Street
SOUTH: E. Pratt Street
WEST: Commerce Street

c) Lease Term:

Original – 5 Years
Option – 1 option for 5 years

d) Lease Start:

Occupancy for Phase I is required no later than November 1, 2017. Occupancy for Phase II is required no later than July 1, 2018.

- 2.2.1 The following specifications must be complied with/provided. Whenever these specifications conflict with the specifications contained elsewhere in this proposal package, these special specifications shall prevail:
 - a. Occupancy
 - a. Phase I Occupancy no later than November 1, 2017
 - b. Phase II Occupancy no later than July 1, 2018
 - c. Tenant shall be permitted to move into the Premises up to 45 days prior to the Occupancy to begin operating out of the Premises without triggering commencement of base rental or any period of base rental abatement. Tenant employees shall be permitted to bring in IT professionals to set up phone system, network connectivity, etc.
 - b. Tenant requires during the Primary Term and any extensions thereto, the guaranteed availability of parking spaces at the building garage or surface lot.
 - c. Signage
 - a. The Landlord shall provide an electronic building lobby directory that will provide a separate listing for each of Tenant's professional subtenants.
 - d. Security Deposit

- a. Tenant shall not be required to provide a security deposit greater than one (1) month of the base monthly rental due in the first year of the initial lease term, or prepaid rent of any kind in connection with the execution of a lease.
- e. Option to Expand
 - a. Tenant requires the option, but not the obligation to lease additional space for projected future growth.
- f. Sublease and Assignment
 - a. Tenant shall have the right to sublease and/or assign the demised premises throughout the entire lease term and any extensions/expansions thereof with the Landlord's approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

Proposals must be for Class A, modern, air conditioned, general purpose office space on the ground level or elevator serviced and will include price, services provided, parking availability, and date available. All locations submitted must be accessible to and provide facilities for the handicapped.

2.2 Invoicing

All invoices shall be submitted by the Contractor within 30 days of receipt of equipment, software or services and shall include, at the minimum, the following information:

- Name and address of the MHBE
- Contractor name
- Products(s) and/or service(s) purchased listed separately including the amount for each individual charge (i.e., 5 – ABC Hardware @ \$2,000 Total \$10,000.00, Support @ \$100.00 Total \$200.00)
- Supporting Documentation
- E-mail address/phone number of Contractor's POC
- Remittance address
- Federal taxpayer identification or (if owned by an individual) Contractor's social security number
- Invoice period, invoice date, invoice number and amount due
- Purchase Order # being billed

Invoices submitted without the required information will not be processed for payment until the Contractor provides the required information. The MHBE is generally exempt from Federal excise taxes, Maryland sales and use taxes, District of Columbia sales taxes and transportation taxes. The Contractor; however, is not exempt from such sales and use taxes and may be liable for the same.

SECTION 3 – OFFEROR MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS

The Offeror must propose a location that falls within the following boundaries: **NORTH:** E. Baltimore Street; **EAST:** S. President Street; **SOUTH:** E. Pratt Street; **WEST:** Commerce Street. As proof of meeting this requirement, the Offeror shall provide a detailed street map of the proposed location.

SECTION 4— PROPOSAL FORMAT

4.1 Proposal Submission

- A. The Proposal shall be submitted to the Procurement Officer electronically via one unencrypted e-mail at hix.procurement@Maryland.gov. The subject line in the e-mail shall state "MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement RFP #MDM0031033528 Proposal" including the Offeror's name.
- B. The e-mail shall provide the following attachments:
 - 1. One attachment labeled "MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement RFP #MDM0031033528 Proposal" containing the Proposal contents and all required signed Attachments (see Section 4.4.3 below), in PDF format.
 - 2. A second attachment labeled "MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement RFP #MDM0031033528", in searchable Adobe .pdf format for Public Information Act (PIA) requests (this copy shall be redacted so that confidential and/or proprietary information has been removed (see Section 1.5 "Public Information Act Notice"). If an Offeror chooses to submit its Proposal without identifying any information that is confidential/proprietary, it should still provide the third attachment required here and label it "PIA", even though no information therein will be redacted.

4.2 Proposals

- 4.2.1 Beginning with Tab B (see RFP Section 4.4.2.3), all pages of both Proposal volumes shall be consecutively-numbered from beginning (Page 1) to end (Page "x"). The Title Page, Table of Contents, and any Claim of Confidentiality (Headings A and A-1; see RFP Sections 4.4.2.1 and 4.4.2.2), should be numbered using small Roman numerals (ex. i, ii, iii, iv, v, etc.).
- 4.2.2 Subject to the Maryland Public Information Act and any other applicable law or regulation, Proposals and any modifications to Proposals will be shown only to MHBE employees, members of the Evaluation Committee, or other persons deemed by the MHBE to have a legitimate interest in them.

4.3 Electronic Delivery

Offerors shall e-mail their Proposals as instructed in RFP Section 4.1 above to the Procurement Officer listed in the Key Information Summary Sheet, page3.

4.4 Proposal

4.4.1 Format of Proposal

The RFP sections are numbered for ease of reference. Section 4.4.2 sets forth the order of information to be provided in the Technical Proposal, e.g., Section 4.4.2.1 "Title and Table of Contents," Section 4.4.2.2 "Claim of Confidentiality," Section 4.4.2.3 "Transmittal Letter," Section 4.4.2.4 "Executive Summary," etc. In addition to the instructions below, responses in the Offeror's Proposal should reference the organization and numbering of Sections in the RFP (ex. "Section 2.1 Response . . .; "Section 2.2 Response . . .," etc.). This Proposal organization will

allow MHBE officials and the Evaluation Committee (see RFP Section 5.1) to "map" Offeror responses directly to RFP requirements by Section number and will aid in the evaluation process.

4.4.2 The Proposal shall include the following documents and information in the order specified as follows. Each section of the Proposal shall be annotated by a Heading as detailed below:

4.4.2.1 Title Page and Table of Contents (Submit under HEADING A)

The Proposal should begin with a Title Page bearing the name and address of the Offeror and the name and number of this RFP. A Table of Contents shall follow the Title Page for the Technical Proposal, organized by section, subsection, and page number.

4.4.2.2 Claim of Confidentiality (If applicable, submit under HEADING A-1)

Any information which is claimed to be confidential is to be noted by reference and included after the Title Page and before the Table of Contents. An explanation for each claim of confidentiality shall be included (see Section 1.5 "Public Information Act Notice"). The entire Proposal should not be given a blanket confidentiality designation. Any confidentiality designation must apply to specific sections, pages, or portions of pages of the Proposal.

4.4.2.3 Transmittal Letter (Submit under HEADING B)

A Transmittal Letter shall accompany the Proposal. The purpose of this letter is to transmit the Proposal and acknowledge the receipt of any addenda. The Transmittal Letter should be brief and signed by an individual who is authorized to commit the Offeror to the services and requirements as stated in this RFP. The Transmittal Letter should include the following:

- Name and address of the Offeror;
- Name, title, e-mail address, and telephone number of primary contact for the Offeror:
- Solicitation Title and Solicitation Number that the Proposal is in response to;
- Signature, typed name, and title of an individual authorized to commit the Offeror to its Proposal;
- Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) of the Offeror, or if a single individual, that individual's Social Security Number (SSN);
- Offeror's eMM number;
- Offeror's MBE certification number (if applicable);
- Acceptance of all MHBE RFP and Contract terms and conditions (see Section 1.24); if any exceptions are taken, they are to be noted in the Executive Summary (see Section 4.4.2.4); and
- Acknowledgement of all addenda to this RFP.

4.4.2.4 Executive Summary (Submit under HEADING C)

The Offeror shall condense and highlight the contents of the Proposal in a separate section titled "Executive Summary." In addition, the Summary shall indicate whether the Offeror is the subsidiary of another entity, and if so, whether all information submitted by the Offeror pertains exclusively to the Offeror. The Summary shall also identify any exceptions the Offeror has taken to the requirements of this RFP, the Lease (Attachment A), or any other attachments. Exceptions to terms and conditions may result in having the Proposal deemed unacceptable or classified as not reasonably susceptible of being selected for award. If the Offeror has taken no exceptions to the requirements of this RFP, the Lease (Attachment A), or any other attachments, the Executive Summary shall so state.

4.4.2.5 Minimum Qualifications Documentation (Submit under HEADING D)

The Offeror shall submit any Minimum Qualifications documentation that may be required, as set forth in Section 3 "Offeror Minimum Qualifications."

4.4.2.6 Landlord (Submit under HEADING E)

Please describe the structure of the entity that maintains ownership and current control of the building and site.

4.4.2.7 Premises (Submit under HEADING F)

Please indicate what the usable to rentable add-on factor is for your building. Also, please indicate what your measurement of usable and rentable area is for the space demised. Demised area may change, subject to actual space planning. Tennant shall have the right to independently verify square footage. BOMA-ANSI 1996 standards of measurement to apply.

4.4.2.8 Base Rent (Submit under HEADING G)

Please indicate the proposed annual, fully serviced, rental rate (including operating expenses and real estate taxes) in the following format:

Base Term Year 1: Price per square foot: \$		
Base Term Year 2: Price per square foot: \$		
Base Term Year 3: Price per square foot: \$		
Base Term Year 4: Price per square foot: \$		
Base Term Year 5: Price per square foot: \$		
Option Term Year 1: Price per square foot: \$		
Option Term Year 2: Price per square foot: \$		
Option Term Year 3: Price per square foot: \$		
Option Term Year 4: Price per square foot: \$		
Ontion Torm Voor 5: Price per square foot: \$		

4.4.2.9 Operating Expenses (Submit under HEADING H)

Please provide a base year for operating expenses and real estate tax pass-through's. Also, please provide a three year history of the actual per square foot, operating expenses and real estate taxes for the building.

4.4.2.10 Tenant Improvement Allowance (Submit under HEADING I)

Please indicate the allowance that Landlord is willing to provide Tenant for physical improvement to the Premises as well as "Soft Costs" (including but not limited to; permitting, design fees, construction management, IT phone/computer cabling, fit-up and moving costs)

In the event Tenant requires additional funds to construct the premises, Landlord shall provide such funds, which will be repaid by Tenant pursuant to a specified formula set forth by Landlord.

Landlord should agree and confirm in its response to this RFP to pay for the cost of an initial test-fit of the offered space by an architectural firm chosen by Tenant. Landlord's obligation to pay for the initial test fit shall exist regardless of whether Building is chosen by Tenant.

4.4.2.11 Other Tenant Concessions (Submit under HEADING J)

Please include any other concessions offered by Landlord to Tenant, including, but not limited to, rental abatement, relocation allowance, lease assumptions, gym memberships, etc.

4.4.2.12 Parking (Submit under HEADING K)

Please indicate the parking ratio per 1,000 square feet leased and the parking rate, if any, per month. Please provide a description of physical security provided at the facility's parking structure (ex. Lift gates, on-site parking attendants, etc.)

4.4.2.13 Building Amenities (Submit under HEADING L)

Please attach as an attachment a list of current and planned Building amenities and retail establishments. Please provide a description of the physical security provided in the building lobby (ex. Security staff, security desk, access cards for building elevators, etc.)

4.4.2.14 Sustainability (Submit under HEADING M)

Describe what LEED or other sustainable design or operational programs are currently being used in the Building (such as LEED EB or Energy Start). How does Landlord plan to sustain existing certifications throughout the Lease Term, as extended?

4.4.2.15 General Information (Submit under HEADING N)

Please provide the following with your proposal:

- Renderings or photographs of the building
- Building brochures
- Building Standards
- Building Rules and Regulations
- Site Plans including location of and access to parking
- Accurate as-builts of proposed floor or suite
- A map from an electronic mapping system which delineates the distance from the proposed site to the nearest Transit Station

4.4.2.16 Required Document Submissions (Submit under Heading O)

Attachment B – Bid Affidavit

4.4.3 Documents Required upon Notice of Recommendation for Contract Award

Upon receipt of a Notification of Recommendation for Contract Award, the following documents shall be completed and submitted electronically, via email, by the recommended awardee within five (5) Business Days, unless noted otherwise:

- Attachment A Standard Lease
- Attachment C Contract Affidavit

SECTION 5 — EVALUATION COMMITTEE, EVALUATION CRITERIA AND SELECTION PROCEDURE

5.1 Evaluation Committee

Evaluation of Proposals will be performed in accordance with Section II.F of MHBE's Procurement Policies and Procedures by a committee established for that purpose and based on the evaluation criteria set forth below. The Evaluation Committee will review Proposals, participate in Offeror oral presentations and discussions, and provide input to the Procurement Officer.

5.2 Proposal Evaluation Criteria

The criteria to be used to evaluate each Proposal are listed below. Each of the criteria carries equal weight.

- 5.2.1 Economic/Rent Considerations (See RFP § 4.4.2.8 4.4.2.11)
 - Initial term rental costs per annum plus the cost of services not offered by the Offeror. This criteria is meant to capture the total expense to the State for occupancy. This may include any free rent offers, re-useable improvements, free parking, etc.
 - Option Period Rent. Rate plus cost of services not offer by Offeror.
 - Tenant concessions
 - Amount of free parking offered above parking required by local zoning.

5.2.2 Location of proposed facility (See RFP § 4.4.2.6 4.4.2.7, 4.4.2.12 & 4.4.2.13)

Security services provided

- 5.2.3 Meeting State LEED and Environmental Energy Goals (See RFP § 4.4.2.14)
- 5.2.4 Quality Considerations (See RFP § 4.4.2.15)
 - Building Quality will be based on MHBE inspection of structure/site
 - Program Considerations will be based on MHBE's program considerations
- 5.2.5 Social Considerations (See RFP § 4.4.2.12 & 4.4.2.13)
 - Public Transportation based on modes of public transportation available within 3 blocks of the facility
 - Proximity to and ease of access from, major highways and thoroughfares
 - Delivery Time Delivery of Space is requested within the number of days specified in the cover letter of the RFP. Offerors may specify a shorter delivery time. If no other delivery time is specified in the Proposal the days specified in the cover letter of the RFP are binding

5.3 Selection Procedures

5.3.1 General

The Contract will be awarded in accordance with the Simplified Methods for Small Procurements method found at Section II.C of MHBE's Procurement Policies and Procedures. The Expedited method allows for the conducting of discussions and the revision of Proposals during these discussions. Therefore, the MHBE may conduct discussions with all Offerors that have submitted Proposals that are determined to be reasonably susceptible of being selected for Contract award or potentially so. However, the MHBE reserves the right to make an award without holding discussions.

In either case (i.e., with or without discussions), the State may determine an Offeror to be not responsible and/or an Offeror's Proposal to be not reasonably susceptible of being selected for award at any time after the initial closing date for receipt of Proposals and prior to Contract award.

5.3.2 Selection Process Sequence

- 5.3.2.1 Proposals are evaluated for merit and ranked. During this review, oral presentations and discussions may be held. The purpose of such discussions will be to assure a full understanding of the MHBE's requirements and the Offeror's ability to perform the services, as well as to facilitate arrival at a Contract that is most advantageous to the MHBE. Offerors will be contacted by the State as soon as any discussions are scheduled.
- 5.3.2.2 Offerors must confirm in writing any substantive oral clarifications of, or changes in, their Proposals made in the course of discussions. Any such written clarifications or changes then become part of the Offeror's Proposal. Proposals are given a final review and ranked.

5.3.2.3 When in the best interest of the MHBE, the Procurement Officer may permit Qualified Offerors to revise their initial Proposals and submit, in writing, Best and Final Offers (BAFOs). The MHBE may make an award without issuing a request for a BAFO.

5.4.3 Award Determination

Upon completion of the Proposal evaluations and rankings, each Offeror shall receive an overall ranking. The Procurement Officer will recommend award of the Contract to the responsible Offeror that submitted the Proposal determined to be the most advantageous to the MHBE.

SECTION 6 — ATTACHMENTS

- Attachment A Standard Lease Must be signed and submitted within five (5) business days of notification of proposed Contract award
- Attachment B Bid/Proposal Affidavit Must be completed and submitted with the Bid
- Attachment C State Contract Affidavit Must be completed and submitted within five (5) business days of notification of proposed Contract award

ATTACHMENT A – LEASE MHBE Office Space Lease Rental Agreement RFP # MDM0031033967

1 Definitions.

The following terms have the following meanings in addition to their usage within the text of this Lease:

Approved Construction Budget means that budget which has been approved and signed by MHBE, prior to construction which delineates the cost to be incurred by Lessor of the required and excess Tenant Improvements to the Demised Premises.

Approved Space Plans mean plans which have been approved and signed by MHBE, prior to construction.

Base Year means the year agreed upon by Lessee and Lessor for which a baseline value is established for calculating amounts owed for operating services expenses.

Commencement Date means the date the Demised Premises are fully occupied by MHBE, or the date MHBE begins a phased in occupancy, as agreed by the parties.

Lease Year means (a) the period beginning at 12:01 a.m. on the Commencement Date and ending at the end of the day immediately before the first anniversary of the first day of the first full calendar month in the Term, and (b) each successive period of 12 calendar months thereafter during the Term.

MHBE means the Maryland Health Benefit Exchange

Normal Working Hours shall mean 7am to 7pm Monday through Friday and 7am to 2pm on Saturday except those days designated as holidays by the State.

Occupancy is the date Lessee begins operating from the Demised Premises.

Person means any natural person, trustee, corporation, partnership, Limited Liability Company or other legal entity.

Section means that all references made to any Section shall, unless therein expressly indicated to the contrary, be deemed to have been made to such Section of this Lease.

Space Plans (Plans) means those plans submitted to MHBE for approval which specify the design and construction of the Tenant Improvements, prepared at Lessor's expense. The Plans shall conform to the site and building conditions and to all required applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, Executive Orders, and codes (including without limitation building, health, and fire codes) of all applicable governmental authorities.

Substantial Completion means the completion of construction or other work required to bring the Building and Demised Premises up to the Lessee's requirements, including the Lessor's acquiring of all necessary permits and inspections related to occupancy which may be subject to minor punch list items.

Supplemental Lease means an amendment to the Lease that was duly approved by the parties hereto and the MHBE Board of Trustees.

Tax Year means the fiscal year for which the real property taxes are levied by the governmental authority, i.e. July 1 through June 30 of said year.

Tenant Improvements means those improvements regarding the Demised Premises requested and required by MHBE to be completed before Lessee(s) occupancy may begin.

Termination Costs means the reasonable value of any non-recurring costs incurred but not amortized in the price of the Lease which are construction costs required to build out the Demised Premises from pre-Lease condition to the condition specified in the Approved Space Plan, the Lease Standards, and any Request for Proposal specifications in accordance with costs delineated in Lessor's Construction Budget, less i) any construction costs paid for in cash by the Lessee, ii) costs amortized as of the date of termination, including legal fees, architectural/engineering costs, bank charges and fees, and, interests costs incurred during construction and attributable to the Tenant Improvements. Termination Costs shall not include any Lessor anticipatory Rents, expenses, or profits which have not been earned up to the date of termination.

2. Payment of Rent.

2.1 Rent Invoices.

Lessee will not automatically pay the Rent; Lessor must send a bill for each monthly payment to MHBE for the amounts set forth in this Lease.

2.2 Rental Payments.

Rental payments shall be payable at the office of the Lessor, during normal business hours and shall be due on the first day of the month.

2.3 Multi-Year Leases Contingent Upon Appropriations.

If the General Assembly fails to appropriate funds or if funds are not otherwise made available for continued performance for any fiscal period of this Lease succeeding the first fiscal period, this Lease shall be cancelled automatically as of the beginning of the fiscal year for which funds were not appropriated or otherwise made available; provided, however, that this will not affect either the State's rights or the Lessor's rights under any termination clause in this Lease. The effect of termination of the Lease hereunder will be to discharge both the Lessor and the State from future performance of the Lease, but not from their rights and obligations existing at the time of termination. The Lessor shall be reimbursed for the reasonable value of any non-recurring costs incurred but not amortized in the price of the Lease. The State shall notify the Lessor as soon as it has knowledge that funds may not be available for the continuation of this Lease for each succeeding fiscal period beyond the first. [COMAR 21.07.01.10; SF 13-217 (d), (e)]

2.4 Submission of Invoices.

All invoices for Rent or other expenses submitted pursuant to this Lease shall be submitted directly to MHBE unless otherwise specifically provided for herein.

2.5 Required Information.

All invoices shall be made out to MHBE and must contain the following information: state "Invoice" on the bill; reference the contract number and date indicated at the end of this Lease; type of billing (i.e. "Rent"); the Lessor's Federal Employer's ID Number or if an individual, the Lessor's social security number, and additional information as may be specifically required elsewhere in this Lease. [SF 15-102]

2.6 Payment by the State.

Payments to the Lessor pursuant to Section 2.4 and this Lease shall be made no later than 30 days after the State's receipt of a proper invoice from the Lessor. Charges for late payment of invoices, other than as prescribed by Title 15, Subtitle 1 of the State Finance and Procurement Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, or by the Public Service Commission of Maryland with respect to regulated public utilities, as applicable, are prohibited. [COMAR 21.07.01.18; SF 15-103, 104]

2.7 Interest on Late Payments.

Except for Rent or other expenses submitted pursuant to this Lease, the Lessor hereby agrees that, notwithstanding the provisions of State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, Title 15, Subtitle 1, interest on any payments due under the terms of this Lease shall not be payable unless such payments remain unpaid for more than 45 days after receipt of a proper invoice and such payments shall accrue interest from the 31st day after receipt of a proper invoice. [SF 15-104]

2.8 Transfer of the Property/Assignment of Lease.

In the event of any transfer of the Property and/or assignment of the Lease: (a) said assignment shall be effective only if the assignee is qualified to do business in the State of Maryland and b) the State is permitted to do business with assignee, (c) Lessor shall provide copies of the deed or other instrument(s) transferring the Property and the assignment agreement to MHBE within 10 days of said transfer and/or assignment, and (d) the assignee of the Lease shall enter into a supplemental lease agreement, including execution of the standard State lease affidavit, amending the landlord information. In the event that any assignee of the Lease is not qualified to do business in the State of Maryland, the State shall have the right to terminate the Lease upon written notice to the Lessor and assignee(s).

2.9 Maximum Rent.

Lessor agrees and asserts that the annual Rent does not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the fair market value of the Demised Premises at the date of the Lease. State Finance and Procurement Article, Section 12-205 of the Annotated Code of Maryland.

3. Operating Expenses.

3.1 Operating Expense Calculations.

Effective at the conclusion of the second Lease year as set out in this Lease, and each succeeding Lease year of this Lease, the Lessee shall pay as an additional expense, and not as additional rent, or shall receive as a credit, its proportionate share of any increase or decrease in Operating Expenses.

3.2 Modification of Base Year for Warranty.

If applicable, the base year set out in this Lease for any item which is under a guarantee or warranty shall be modified the first full Lease year following expiration of the item's guarantee or warranty.

3.3 Real Estate Tax Invoicing.

Amounts due by the Lessee for Real Estate Taxes shall be invoiced annually throughout the Term. The Lessee shall pay as an additional expense, and not as additional rent, or shall receive as a credit its proportionate share of any increase or decrease in Real Estate Taxes. The annual invoicing period for real estate taxes shall be within 90 days after the completion of the real estate tax year; for example, no later than September 30th based on the current tax year of July 1st through the succeeding June 30th.

3.4 Other Operating Expense Invoicing.

The invoicing period for all other Operating Expenses shall be within 90 days of the end of each annual Lease year; for example if the Lease commences April 1st, invoicing no later than June 30th based on the invoicing period of April 1st through the succeeding March 31st.

3.5 Lease Termination Invoicing.

Upon Lease termination all invoices, including invoices for real estate taxes, shall be adjusted to the date of Lease termination and shall be submitted within 90 days after the Lease termination date. Invoices submitted more than 90 days after the end of the invoicing period shall not be honored. Any payments due by the Lessee shall be paid in one lump sum. Credits due the Lessee shall be credited to the Lessee's monthly rent payments immediately. In the event the credit exceeds the amount of one monthly rent payment, the full amount of the monthly rent shall be credited until the full credit has been recovered.

3.6 Method for Invoicing.

Invoices for Operating Expenses shall be made out to the using Unit. Lessor shall send a copy of such invoice to hbe.finance@maryland.gov for review and approval before payment. In addition to the information required by Section 2.2, such invoices shall include, as backup material, certified true copies of invoices (for the Base Year and escalation year) for the services for which escalations are requested. For costs where such invoices are confidential, (i.e. salaries paid to Lessor's employees) the Lessor must certify and warrant that such payments for such costs were made. ORE shall have the right by methods acceptable to the Lessor and Lessee, to physically audit the Lessor's records to determine the validity of reimbursement or credits due under this Lease.

3.7 Audit Expenses.

Lessee shall have the right at any time to audit the books and records of the Lessor. Lessor guarantees all financial records and tenant statements shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and rendered to Lessee in any similar format Lessee may reasonably request from time to time. If Lessee exercises the right to audit the books and records associated with this Lease, Lessee shall pay the expense of auditing the books and records. However, Lessor shall pay all audit expenses if Lessee is found to have been overcharged by 15% or more on any bill related to Operating Service Expenses or Real Estate Taxes.

4. Assignment.

4.1 Assignment.

Lessee may assign this Lease and the Demised Premises upon prior written consent of the Lessor, whose consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

4.2 Use of the Demised Premises.

Use of the Demised Premises by a Unit(s) of the State of Maryland other than MHBE is not an assignment or a subletting and may be done at the discretion of the Lessee.

5. Condition Upon Termination.

Lessee will, at the expiration or sooner termination of the Term, deliver up the Demised Premises in the same condition they were in at the beginning of the tenancy, reasonable wear and tear, and such damage as cannot be attributed to the carelessness or neglect of the Lessee, its employees, agents or invitees excepted.

6. Construction, Improvements, Replacements.

6.1 Construction of Tenant Improvements.

Lessor shall, at Lessor's sole cost and expense, develop, design and construct on and in the Demised Premises, and the building of which the Demised Premises are a part, Lessee's Tenant Improvements ("Tenant Improvements").

6.2 Preparation of Space Plans.

Promptly after the MHBE Board of Trustees approves this Lease, and in accordance with Lessor's Construction Budget and Proposal, Lessor shall at its expense prepare and submit to Lessee for review and approval proposed space plans. The Plans shall conform to the site and building conditions and to all required applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, Executive Orders, and codes (including without limitation building, health, and fire codes) of all applicable governmental authorities as to the design and construction of the Tenant Improvements.

6.3 Architect(s) and Engineer(s).

Lessor shall select and provide Architect(s) and Engineers (Mechanical, Electrical, Plumbing), where applicable, to prepare the plans for and construct the Tenant Improvements (the "Plans"). Architect(s) and Engineer(s) employed by Lessor must be currently licensed and in good standing with the State of Maryland.

6.4 Compliance With All Laws.

All plans, construction and improvements to the Demised Premises shall comply with all applicable Federal, State and Local building codes and requirements, as may be amended from time to time, including but not limited to the Maryland Building Performance Standards of the Public Safety Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, Title 12, Subtitle 5,; the Maryland Building Rehabilitation Code of the Public Safety Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, Title 12, Subtitle Ten; The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA); and the Maryland Building Code for the Handicapped (MBCH).

6.5 Review and Approval of Space Plans.

Upon written approval by MHBE, which shall constitute the Approved Space Plans ("Approved Space Plans") and Lessor's Approved Construction Budget ("Approved Construction Budget"), marked Exhibit A-4 and B, respectively, for all purposes of this Lease, Lessor shall execute said plans and the improvements thereon shall constitute the Lessor's work for all purposes hereof. In addition to the aforementioned consultations and approvals, and those that may be required under any applicable law, Lessor shall otherwise consult with and gain approval from MHBE throughout the design and construction phases for the Tenant Improvements to the Demised Premises. In order to facilitate any Lessee approval, Lessor shall submit all Plans, permits, supporting materials, and other necessary documentation to MHBE for its review, comment, approval, and periodic inspection prior to and during construction, including evidence of performance, labor and materials bonds in amounts satisfactory to the State. All reviews and comments shall be provided within 5 business days of receipt but approval may be withheld at the discretion of MHBE. No construction, improvements or renovation may begin without the written review, comment, and approval of MHBE. No modification or alteration to the design and construction plans approved by MHBE may be made without subsequent written approval of MHBE. MHBE shall designate, and may re-designate, one individual or body of reviewers who shall throughout the term of the construction, design, and implementation process be responsible for and authorized to act on behalf of MHBE.

6.6 Fit Up.

The Lessor shall at a minimum provide at no cost to MHBE the State's standard fit up items. Parties may agree to additional or modified fit up terms and responsibilities. The State's standard fit up items are:

- a. 1 linear foot of partioning per 10 square feet of leased space (Sound transmission class of 35).
- b. 1 linear foot of sound conditioned partitioning (Sound transmission class of 50) for 10 linear feet of partitioning.
- c. 2 doors for ingress and egress from each leased area on each floor.
- d. 1 interior door for each 25 linear feet of partitioning required.
- e. 1 duplex electric outlet per 200 square feet of leased space.
- f. 1 dedicated special purpose electric outlet per 1,000 square feet of leased space.
- g. 1 electric outlet 208 volt, 30 AMP per floor.
- h. 1 quad electrical outlet per office.
- i. 1 dedicated guad electrical outlet per server room rack.
- j. 1 J-Box in ceiling per 3 cubicles.
- k. 1 telephone outlet ring & string per 100 square feet of leased space.
- I. 75% carpet, 25% VCT within leased space.
- m. ¾" (three-quarter inch) rated plywood on 3 walls in IT room, 18" from floor, 4' wide.

6.7 Performance of Work.

The Lessor agrees to prosecute the work continuously and diligently and no charges or claims for damages shall be made by it for any delays or hindrances from any cause whatsoever during the progress of any portion of the work specified in this Lease.

6.8 Time Extensions.

Time extensions will be granted only for excusable delays that arise from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Lessor, including but not restricted to, acts of God,

acts of the public enemy, acts of the State in either its sovereign or contractual capacity, acts of another Lessor in the performance of a contract with the State, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, or delays of subcontractors or suppliers arising from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of either the Lessor or the subcontractors or suppliers.

6.9 Performance Guarantees.

Prior to commencement of construction, Lessee may require Lessor to demonstrate to the State's reasonable satisfaction that it has sufficient funds to construct the Tenant Improvements and operate and maintain the Demised Premises, including such performance bonds and/or completion guarantees as may be necessary. Lessor shall pay all costs of the Tenant Improvements and the cost associated with constructing the Tenant Improvements on the Demised Premises, including the fees of the Architect(s) and Engineer(s), and all sums owed to any contractor involved with constructing the Tenant Improvements. Any approved Tenant Improvement costs not reimbursed in full by the State prior to the Commencement Date may be amortized over the Term of the Lease.

6.10 Proof of Guarantees and Construction Notice.

At the request of the State, Lessor shall not commence any construction of Tenant Improvements until full copies of all insurance policies, performance bonds and/or completion guarantees have been delivered to the State and the State has acknowledged in writing receipt thereof. Lessor shall also provide the State forty-eight (48) hour advance notice prior to its commencement of construction and provide regular updates every two (2) calendar weeks, or other adequate time interval as may be approved by the MHBE, on the status of constructing the Tenant Improvements.

6.11 Construction Standards.

Lessor shall require any contractor(s) constructing the Tenant Improvements and associated improvements on the Demised Premises to construct them in a good and workmanlike manner, in accordance with all applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, and codes, and if applicable, require the contractor(s) to complete the work without unreasonable interference with any of State's operations on the Demised Premises.

6.12 Tenant Improvements After Occupancy.

In the case of Tenant Improvements to be constructed after State occupancy and/or the Commencement Date of the any original Term of the Lease, Lessor shall not demolish or destroy any existing Tenant Improvements upon the Demised Premises without the prior written consent of MHBE.

6.13 Paint and Carpet.

Lessor shall repaint the Demised Premises upon a request of the Lessee to do so and shall also be responsible for any costs incurred and associated with the movement of Lessee's machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures required to accomplish the repainting. Lessee may not make such a request any more frequently than once every five (5) years from Commencement Date. Lessor shall re-carpet the Demised Premises upon a request of the Lessee to do so and shall also be responsible for any costs incurred and associated with the movement of Lessee's machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures required to accomplish the re-carpeting. Lessee may not make such a request any more frequently than once every ten (10) years from Commencement Date. Carpet replacements under warranty conditions do not preclude the enforcement of this clause.

6.14 Construction Progress and Coordination.

On a routine basis during the planning and construction of the Tenant Improvements, Lessor shall meet with MHBE so that Lessor may review with State the progress of plans and construction, so that Lessor and State may coordinate the construction of the Tenant Improvements, and determine the construction schedules and methods that will have minimum impact on operations, if any, of any State activities on the Demised Premises, and other agencies or units of the State using any facilities at the Demised Premises.

6.15 Damage and Repair.

Lessor shall be solely responsible for repairing any buildings, roads, parking lots, grounds, utilities or other structures, improvements and areas on the Demised Premises, the Property, or the Building, damaged by vehicles or machinery of Lessor's Contractor(s), suppliers, or agents before, during or after construction.

6.16 Construction Equipment.

Lessor shall require its Contractor(s) to guarantee that all machinery, tools, equipment, vehicles and supplies are secured at all times. The State shall not be responsible for the safe keeping or theft of any machinery, tools, equipment, vehicles, or supplies of Lessor or Lessor's Contractor(s), suppliers, or agents. The State shall not be responsible for the security and safety of any construction equipment or supplies.

6.17 Utilities.

If utilities have to be relocated or disrupted due to construction of the Tenant Improvements, the relocation or disruption shall be done at the cost and expense of Lessor and in accordance with any provisions set forth in this Lease. In the event that utilities are relocated, the Lessor shall move all affected, existing utility equipment on the Demised Premises, Property, and/or Building to the new location at Lessor's expense.

6.18 No Waiver of Requirements.

State's execution of this Lease does not imply approval nor imply exception to any permit requirement of the State of Maryland. The Lessor's construction of, renovations to, and improvements on, the Demised Premises shall be in compliance with the requirements of all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations. Lessor shall be responsible for obtaining all applicable permits, licenses, inspections and approvals required for construction of, renovations to, and improvement to the Demised Premises, and shall deliver to State copies of all necessary permits, licenses, inspections and approvals prior to taking any action requiring such permits, licenses, inspections and approvals. The Lessor shall be responsible for and assume all liability in connection with any public hearings conducted in connection with the issuance of any permit, license or other governmental approval.

7. Commencement and Occupancy.

7.1 Rent Abatement.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Lease, the Tenant Improvements required under this Lease shall be completed before Lessee's occupancy shall begin. In the event the Demised Premises are not completed on the date specified within this Lease, the rent provided for herein and Lessee's obligations pursuant to this Lease shall abate until the Demised Premises are fully occupied by the Lessee or until 10 business days after inspection and acceptance by MHBE, whichever event shall first occur. In order to

allow Lessee sufficient time to schedule and conduct an inspection of the Demised Premises, for the purpose of full or partial occupancy, Lessor shall give Lessee written notice that the Demised Premises have been completed and all required use or occupancy permits have been obtained. Lessee shall have 10 business days after receipt of Lessor's written notice to conduct its inspection of the Demised Premises.

7.2 Partial Occupancy.

Lessee may, prior to completion of the renovations, occupy any portion of the Demised Premises mutually agreed upon by Lessor and Lessee. Rent payable during such partial occupancy shall be paid proportionately to the area occupied by the Lessee and the rent payable shall be adjusted to the actual term of such partial occupancy.

7.3 Occupancy.

Occupancy is the date Lessee begins operating from the Demised Premises. Storage of furniture or equipment in the Demised Premises as may be mutually agreed upon by Lessor and Lessee shall not constitute "constructive occupancy" or acceptance of the space by the Lessee.

7.4 Supplemental Commencement Date.

Regardless of the date specified at the outset of the Lease, the initial term of this Lease shall commence on the date the Demised Premises are fully occupied and shall terminate at the end of the length of time specified for the Term. If the term of this lease would begin and/or end other than on the first day of the month, Lessee shall pay proportionate rent at the same monthly rate set forth in this Lease for such partial month and all other terms and conditions of this Lease shall be in force and effect during such partial month. If the Commencement Date is altered as a result of this provision, the specific Commencement Date of this Lease shall be established by Supplemental Lease hereto.

8. Repairs and Maintenance.

8.1 Damage or Defects.

Lessee, upon discovery, shall give to Lessor prompt written notice of any accidents or damage to, or defects in, the roof, the exterior of the building, plumbing, electrical service, electric lights, or HVAC apparatus. These defects and/or damage shall be remedied by Lessor, including any costs incurred and associated with the movement of Lessee's machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures, if such moving is required to remedy the defect. It is understood by the parties that this does not impose an obligation upon the Lessee to inspect the building for accidents, damage or defects nor hold the Lessee liable for failure to do so.

8.2 Lessor's Responsibility for Repairs.

All repairs to the Demised Premises including repairs to the exterior of the Building, no matter how caused are to be made and paid for by the Lessor, including any costs incurred and associated with the movement of Lessee's machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures, if such moving is required to make the repairs.

8.3 Lessee's Responsibility for Repairs.

The Lessee shall only be responsible for the financial reimbursement to the Lessor of the actual costs for repairs made by the Lessor or its agent to the Demised Premises caused by the gross negligence of the Lessee, its agents, employees or invitees. Lessor shall provide to the Lessee copies of the actual invoices

for work caused by the gross negligence of the Lessee, its agents, employees or invitees. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Lessee's liability for the reimbursement of said costs shall be contingent upon Lessor obtaining written approval of costs from MHBE Procurement Officer prior to the commencement of any work.

8.4 Failure to Repair.

In the event the Lessor fails to a) replace promptly any broken item; b) make necessary repairs; or c) maintain the Building and Property as herein provided for, the Lessee is herewith empowered and authorized, but not obligated to, after written notice has been given the Lessor, to make all necessary repairs or perform the required maintenance, charging the Lessor for the making of such repairs or performing said maintenance and deducting the cost thereof from any subsequent payment or payments of Rent due under the terms of the Lease or by such other legal process it might elect. In the event Lessor fails to repair or perform maintenance and Lessee elects not to repair or perform the maintenance the Lessee, shall have the right to withhold (abate) payment of Rent until such time as Lessor completes said repairs or maintenance in a manner satisfactory to the MHBE.

8.5 Fire Evacuation Plan.

The Lessor agrees to maintain and post a current fire evacuation plan approved by the Fire Department for the Building, and to work with the Lessee in appointing floor fire captains to implement the evacuation plan.

8.6 Regular Maintenance Inspections.

The Lessor shall designate an authorized representative and agrees to conduct regular maintenance inspections with the Lessee's designee, or also with such frequency as Lessee shall request. The inspections shall identify concerns and problems by the Lessee. The Lessor shall respond in writing within ten (10) days following said inspection detailing action plans and completion times. Both the Lessor and Lessee shall provide points of contact with telephone, facsimile numbers, and e-mail addresses to each other and to MHBE. At the election of MHBE, failure to perform said inspections shall result in the forfeiture of escalation payments.

8.7 Actionable Mold.

Actionable Mold is mold of types and concentrations in excess of that found in the local outdoor air, visible within the Demised Premises, and/or that which is deemed in Lessee's reasonable judgment to be disruptive to Lessee's operations. Any Actionable Mold must be removed at the sole cost and expense of Lessor. The Lessor shall provide space to the State of Maryland that is free from Actionable Mold and free from any conditions that reasonably can be anticipated to permit the growth of Actionable Mold or are indicative of the possibility that Actionable Mold will be present ("Indicators").

8.8 Mold Inspection.

At such times as the MHBE may direct, including but not limited to: after a flood, water damage not caused by the Lessee or repairs caused by the Lessor, the Lessor, at its sole cost, expense and risk shall: (i) cause an industrial hygienist certified by the American Board of Industrial Hygienists or a qualified consultant ("the Inspector") who, in either instance, is reasonably acceptable to MHBE, to inspect and evaluate the space for the presence of Actionable Mold or mold Indicators; and (ii) cause the Inspector to deliver the results of its inspection and evaluation (the "Report") to the MHBE within 30 days after it conducts same and, in all events, at the same time that it delivers the Report to Lessor. With the delivery

of the Report, the Inspector shall notify MHBE, in writing via cover letter to the report, if the Inspector discovers or suspects the existence of Actionable Mold or Indicators in the leased space.

8.9 Mold Casualty.

The presence of Actionable Mold in the premises may be treated as a Casualty, as determined by MHBE, in accordance with the Casualty provisions contained in this Lease. In addition to the provisions of the Casualty provisions of this Lease, should the Demised Premises, or a portion thereof, be determined by MHBE to be unfit for occupancy due to Actionable Mold resulting from an act of negligence by the Lessor or its agents, the Lessor shall provide reasonably acceptable alternative space at the Lessor's expense, including the cost of moving, and any required alterations thereto.

8.10 Mold Remediation.

If the Report indicates that Actionable Mold or Indicators are present in the leased space, the Lessor, at its sole cost, expense, and risk, shall within ten (10) business days after its receipt of the Report: 1) retain an experienced mold remediation contractor reasonably acceptable to the MHBE to prepare and submit to MHBE a remediation plan (the "Plan") and within thirty (30) calendar days after MHBE's approval of the Plan, remediate the Actionable Mold or the Indicators in the leased space, but prior to commencing such remediation, Lessor shall send MHBE a notice stating: (i) the date on which the Actionable Mold remediation shall start and how long it is projected to continue; (ii) which portion of the leased space shall be subject to the remediation; and (iii) the remediation procedures and standards to be used to implement the Plan and the clearance criteria to be employed at the conclusion of the remediation; and 2) notify, in accordance with any applicable Federal, state, and local health and safety requirements, MHBE employees as well as all other occupants of and visitors to the leased space of the nature, location and schedule for the planned remediation and reasons therefore. For the presence of visible mold any building materials impacted by water or condensate must be removed and replaced.

The Lessor shall be responsible for conducting the remediation in accordance with the relevant provisions of the document entitled "Mold Remediation in Schools and Commercial Buildings" (EPA 402-K-01-001, March 2001), published by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, as same may be amended or revised from time to time, and any other applicable federal, state, or local laws, regulatory standards and guidelines.

8.11 Mold Remediation Inspection.

The Lessor acknowledges and agrees that MHBE shall have a reasonable opportunity to inspect the leased space after conclusion of any remediation. If the results of the MHBE's inspection indicate that the remediation does not comply with the Plan or any other applicable federal, state, or local laws, regulatory standards or guidelines, the Lessor, at its sole cost, expense and risk, shall immediately take all further actions necessary to bring the remediation into compliance.

8.12 Failure to Remediate.

If the Lessor fails to exercise due diligence, or is otherwise unable to remediate the Actionable Mold, MHBE may implement a corrective action program and deduct its costs from the Rent and/or terminate the Lease and seek any other remedy available to it by law.

8.13 Building Performance Standards.

The Lessor guarantees that the Demised Premises, common areas and other portions of the Property over which Lessor has control comply in all respects with the following, as may be amended from time

to time: (a) the provisions of the Public Safety Article, Title 12, Subtitle 5 of the Annotated Code of Maryland (Maryland Building Performance Standards); (b) The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 United States Code, Section 12101, et seq.); and (c) the Occupational Safety and Health Standards of the State of Maryland and the United States, including but not limited to the presence of friable asbestos or other hazardous materials or chemicals; and (d) the codes and standards as delineated in the General Performance Standards and Specifications for State of Maryland Leased Facilities. If Lessor has knowledge or is notified that other lessees in or on the Property/Building are not in compliance with these laws, Lessor shall take such action as is necessary to insure proper compliance.

8.14 Non-Compliance with Building Performance Standards.

Should either the Lessor or Lessee be cited for any non-compliance or violation of any Act, Code or standards set forth or referenced in this Lease, the Lessor shall at its own expense by the date specified by such citation, correct all violations which are not specifically concerned with the placement or physical characteristics of the Lessee's furniture or equipment or which are not directly attributable to the negligence of the Lessee, its employees, or invitees.

9. Alterations by Lessee.

9.1 Alterations by Lessee.

Lessee shall not make any alterations, additions, or improvements without Lessor's written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed, and all alterations, additions or improvements made by either of the parties hereto upon the Demised Premises shall be the property of the Lessor and shall remain upon and be surrendered with the Demised Premises at the termination of this Lease, provided, however, that the Lessee shall have the privilege of installing any signs, furniture, fixtures, or machinery necessary in the conduct of its business and these same shall remain the property of the said Lessee, and may be removed by the Lessee during its tenancy.

9.2 Signs.

Lessee may install such signs as it wishes within the Demised Premises without permission to do so from the Lessor. Lessee may also install such signs outside of the Demised Premises at locations and of such size as the Lessor may approve, in accordance with local regulations regarding exterior signage.

9.3 Lines and Wiring.

Lessee may install lines or special wiring for telephones and other electronic or communications equipment necessary in the conduct of its business and these shall remain the property of the Lessee, and may be realigned, maintained or removed at the sole option of the Lessee during its tenancy or upon expiration or termination of the Lease. The Lessee, at its sole option, shall have the right to abandon in place any wiring or other electronic or communication equipment installed and shall not be required to remove it upon the expiration of the Lease.

9.4 Furniture and Equipment.

Any violations cited which are specifically concerned with the placement or physical characteristics of the Lessee's furniture or equipment or which are directly attributable to the negligence of the Lessee, its employees, or invitees, shall be corrected by the Lessee by the date specified in the citation. The Lessor shall not withhold permission for the moving of any heavy furniture or equipment owned by Lessee for which, under the provisions of this Lease, the Lessor has reserved the right to direct placement if the

original placement is cited as a violation of the above act, but the Lessor may, for such furniture or equipment, direct the new location.

10. Casualty.

10.1 Lessor's Obligation to Repair and Reconstruct.

If the Demised Premises are damaged by fire or other casualty (the "Casualty") during the Term, Lessor, at its expense, shall restore the Demised Premises with reasonable promptness but in no event later than 90 days after the date of the Casualty to substantially the same condition of the Demised Premises immediately before such Casualty, and may temporarily enter and possess any or all of the Demised Premises for such purpose. The times for commencement and completion of any such restoration shall be extended for a period not to exceed 60 days if any delays are caused by an event or circumstance beyond Lessor's reasonable control. If such restoration is not accomplished within the 90 day period and any extension period, Lessee may terminate this Lease by giving Notice to Lessor within 30 days after the expiration of such period or extension. If such Notice is given, the rights and obligations of the parties shall cease as of the date of the Casualty and the Rent shall be adjusted as of the date of the Casualty.

10.2 Rent Abatement.

As long as Lessee is prohibited from the use of any or all of the Demised Premises on account of such Casualty, the Rent and any other obligations of the Lessee shall be abated in proportion to the usable area of the Demised Premises that are rendered substantially unfit for occupancy by such Casualty, unless, in Lessee's sole judgment, such Casualty renders the undamaged part of the Demised Premises materially unsuitable for use by Lessee for the uses contemplated by this Lease, in which event the Rent shall be abated entirely during such period of non-use.

10.3 Destruction/Damage to the Building.

Anything in this Section to the contrary notwithstanding, if it is determined by either party that the Building is so damaged by Casualty that either the Demised Premises or (whether or not the Demised Premises are damaged) the Building is rendered substantially unfit for occupancy and the Lessor will be unable to restore the Demised Premises within 90 days after such Casualty, then either party may elect to terminate this Lease as of the date of the Casualty by giving Notice thereof to the other party within 30 days after such Casualty. If such Notice is given, the rights and obligations of the parties shall cease as of the date of the Casualty and the Rent shall be adjusted as of the Casualty.

10.4 Emergency Plan(s).

The Lessor is required to participate in and comply with the development and implementation of Lessee's "Continuity of Operations Plans" (COOP). The COOP Plan(s) shall include, among other things, emergency notification procedures of the Lessor's building engineer or manager, building security, local emergency personnel, and MHBE personnel.

11. Utilities.

11.1 Continuity of Utilities and Service.

Lessor guarantees that the Demised Premises shall continually have heat, electricity, air conditioning, telephone access and plumbing available for use by Lessee. It is hereby understood and agreed that the heating and air conditioning systems will be kept under a uniform and systematic program of service and

repair as prescribed according to manufacturer specifications, solely at the Lessor's expense. If the existing heating and air conditioning systems are inadequate to provide a consistent degree of comfort, Lessor shall, at its own expense, replace or modify the system to assure consistent comfortable temperatures.

11.2 Provision of Utilities and Service.

All utilities and services (excluding telephone and communications) shall be provided and paid for by the Lessor unless otherwise set forth in this Lease.

11.3 Failure of Utilities or Service.

Lessor shall not be liable for any failure to supply utilities or services not due to negligence on the Lessor's part.

11.4 Payment for Overtime Usage of Utilities.

Payment for overtime usage of utilities, if applicable, shall be made only if MHBE consistently and continuously utilize the Demised Premises or a portion of the Demised Premises for a minimum of a 30 day period beyond the standard operational hours. The Lessor must notify MHBE in advance and in writing of the indication that Lessee's usage may incur overtime utility usage charges. Overtime electric usage payment, if approved, shall be made on an annual basis submitted in the same manner and along with utility escalation billings and value established as follows: Net Usable Square Feet of space within the Demised Premises being utilized for overtime purposes divided by the total Net Usable Square Feet of the Demised Premises. The percentage shall be applied to the actual utility billing for each month of overtime utility usage.

12. Environmental Matters.

12.1 Compliance with Laws.

Lessor shall comply, at its sole cost and expense, with the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act 1980, 42 U.S.C. §9601 et seq., as amended, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 42 U.S.C. §6901, et seq., as amended, the Toxic Substance Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §2601, et seq., as amended, the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §1251, et seq., their respective State of Maryland statutes, including but not limited to, Title 7 of the Annotated Code of Maryland, "Hazardous Materials and Hazardous Substances", and any other, Federal, State, or local statute, law, ordinance, resolution, code, rule, regulation, order, or decree regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning Hazardous Material, as defined below (the "Environmental Laws").

12.2 Hazardous Material.

Hazardous Material means and includes any hazardous substance or any pollutant or contaminant defined as such in, or for the purpose of, the Environmental Laws, including, but not limited to, underground storage tanks, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, oils, petroleum-derived compounds, pesticides polychlorinated biphenyls, or other toxic or hazardous substances, pollutants or contaminants.

12.3 Environmental Hazards Prohibition.

The Lessor shall not place, deposit, store, treat, dispose of, manage, generate, manufacture, produce, release, emit or discharge Hazardous Material, or permit any other person to do the same, on, in, under or near the Demised Premises or the Property, without prior written consent of the Lessee.

12.4 Environmental Hazards Warranty.

The Lessor hereby represents and warrants that: (i) Lessor has not placed, held, stored, or disposed of any Hazardous Material on, in, under or near the Demised Premises or the Property; (ii) to the best of its knowledge, Lessor's past or present tenants have not placed, held, stored, or disposed of any Hazardous Material on, in, under or near the Demised Premises or the Property; (iii) to the best of its knowledge, no Hazardous Material of any kind, or storage tanks, have been deposited, stored, treated, disposed of, managed, generated, manufactured, produced, released, emitted or discharged on, in, under or near the Demised Premises or the Property; (iv) no governmental or private suite, action or proceeding to allege, enforce or impose liability under or pursuant to any Environmental Laws have been instituted or threatened concerning the Demised Premises or the Property; and (v) no lien has been created under any applicable Environmental Laws.

12.5 Notice of Environmental Hazards.

The Lessor agrees to: (i) give notice to the Lessee immediately upon acquiring knowledge of the presence of any Hazardous Materials on, in, under or near the Demised Premises or the Property, including a full description thereof; (ii) promptly comply with all Environmental Laws and perform all investigations, removal, remedial actions, cleanup and abatement, corrective action, or other remediation that may be required pursuant to any Environmental Laws requiring the removal, treatment or disposal of such Hazardous Materials; (iii) provide Lessee with satisfactory evidence of such compliance within a reasonable period of time with or without a demand by Lessee; and (iv) provide the Lessee with financial assurance evidencing to Lessee's satisfaction that the necessary funds are available to pay the cost of removing, treating and disposing of such Hazardous Materials and discharging any encumbrance with may be established on the Demised Premises or the Property as a result thereof.

12.6 Indemnity.

Lessor shall indemnify, defend (if requested by Lessee), and hold the Lessee harmless from and against any and all liabilities, losses, damages, injuries, costs, expenses, claims of any kind, including without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of attorneys and engineering consultants arising from the breach of any Environmental Laws prior to or subsequent to the execution of this Lease by Lessor, its officers, directors, agents, employees, tenants, or their successors or assigns ("Environmental Claims"). Lessor, for itself, its former and future officers, directors, agents and employees, and for each of their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns, hereby and forever releases and discharges the Lessee and all of Lessee's employees, agents, representative, successors and assigns, of and from any and all rights, claims, liabilities, causes of action, obligations, and all other debts and demands whatsoever, at law or in equity, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, accrued or unaccrued, in connection with any Environmental Claims.

12.7 Survival.

The provisions of this Lease General Condition Section 12 shall survive the early termination or expiration of this Lease and shall continue to be the obligation, liability and indemnification of the Lessor forever.

13. Performance and Lease Inquiries.

13.1 Inquiries about Lessee's Performance.

For inquiries concerning the performance of the Lessee's obligations under the Lease, Lessor shall contact the Contract Monitor.

13.2 Inquiries about Lease.

For inquiries concerning interpretation or modification of the Lease and inspection of the Demised Premises, Lessor shall contact the MHBE Procurement Officer.

14. Right of First Offer.

During the term of the Lease, Lessor hereby agrees to give Lessee a right of first offer to lease any other vacant space in the building immediately before Lessor leases any vacant space in the building to any other person, Lessee shall have fifteen (15) business days to respond to offers made pursuant to this right with an affirmative or negative response that is subject to the preparation of the Supplemental Lease Agreement and formal MHBE Board of Trustees ratification within 75 days after said response.

15. Time is of the Essence.

Time is of the essence and occupancy on the date specified in the Lease is the essence of this Agreement to the Lessee. If, due to its own fault or negligence, Lessor does not have the Demised Premises available for use by Lessee on the date specified in this Agreement, Lessor agrees to pay damages to Lessee in an amount equal to the Rent for the Demised Premises during the period that the Demised Premises are unavailable to the Lessee, and in addition the Rent due from Lessee and any other obligations to be performed by Lessee shall be abated until occupancy.

16. Termination.

16.1 Termination and Extension.

This Lease and the tenancy hereby created shall cease and terminate at the end of the Original Term or any Renewal Term or other extension, without the necessity of any further notice from either the Lessor or the Lessee to terminate the same and that continued occupancy of the Demised Premises by the Lessee after the expiration of said term shall not operate to renew the said Lease for said term or any part thereof or render the Lessee liable for double Rent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Lessee reserves the absolute right to extend the term of the Lease for a period not to exceed six (6) months. In the event of such extension by the Lessee, the Lessee shall be and remain liable to the Lessor for Rent for the Demised Premises for the time the same are actually occupied by the Lessee, said Rent to be at the monthly rate required of Lessee during the immediate preceding term prior to the beginning of the extended term; but nothing herein shall confer upon the Lessee any right to remain on the Demised Premises beyond six (6) months after termination of the Original Term or the immediately preceding Renewal Term, except with the consent of the Lessor.

16.2 Termination for Failure to Deliver Demised Premises.

In the event the Demised Premises are not completed at or prior to the specified date for completion, then the Lessee may, at its sole discretion, at any time prior to completion of the Demised Premises, terminate this Lease by giving written notice to the Lessor. In the event Lessee elects not to terminate this Lease pursuant to the previous sentence, then the provisions of Section 15, "Time is of the Essence," shall become operative from the date the Demised Premises should have been delivered to the date the Demised Premises are occupied or to the date the Lessee elects to terminate the Lease prior to occupancy.

16.3 Termination for Default.

If the Lessor fails to fulfill its obligations under the Lease properly and on time, or otherwise violates any provision of this Lease, the Lessee may terminate this Lease by written notice to the Lessor. The notice shall specify the acts or omissions relied upon as cause for termination. All finished or unfinished work provided by the Lessor shall, at the Lessee's option, become the Lessee's property. The Lessee shall pay the Lessor fair and equitable compensation for satisfactory performance prior to receipt of notice of termination, less the amount of damages caused by Lessor's breach. If the damages are more than the compensation payable to Lessor, the Lessor shall remain liable after termination and the Lessee can affirmatively collect such damages. [COMAR 21.07.01.11; SF 13-218 (a) (1)]

16.4 Cure Period.

Unless another remedy or cure period is specifically provided elsewhere herein, the remedies in this provision shall apply. In the event that Lessor defaults in any obligation hereunder, Lessor shall have 10 business days from the date of receipt of the written notice to cure the same (provided, however, that such 10-business day period shall be extended as reasonably required if the cure requires in excess of 10 business days and Lessor is diligently pursuing the same). There shall be no cure period if, in the reasonable discretion of the Lessee, the default threatens the health, safety, or welfare of Lessee's employees, guest, and/or invitees. If Lessor fails to cure the default within the applicable specified period, Lessee may expend such sums as are necessary to cure the default and Lessor shall be liable to Lessee for same. Written notice to cure may be done by electronic mail.

16.5 Termination for Convenience.

This Lease may be terminated by the Lessee in accordance with this clause, in whole, or from time to time in part, whenever the Lessee shall determine that such termination is in the best interest of the Lessee. The Lessee will pay all reasonable costs associated with this Lease that the Lessor has incurred up to the date of termination and all reasonable costs associated with termination of the Lease (Termination Costs). However, the Lessor shall not be reimbursed for any anticipatory rentals, expense, or profits which have not been earned up to the date of termination. [COMAR 21.07.01.12; SF 13- 218 (a) (2)]

16.6 Rights and Remedies.

References to any specific right or remedy shall not preclude Lessor or Lessee from exercising any other right or remedy to which it is otherwise entitled, in law or in equity.

17. Other.

17.1 Non-Hiring of Officials and Employees.

No employee of the State of Maryland, or any Unit thereof, whose duties as such employee include matters relating to or affecting the subject matter of the Lease, shall, while so employed, become or be

an employee of the party or parties hereby contracting with the State of Maryland, or any Unit thereof. [COMAR 21.07.01.05]

17.2 Governing Law.

The provisions of the Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of Maryland and the parties hereby expressly agree that the courts of the State of Maryland shall have jurisdiction to decide any question arising hereunder.

17.3 Nondiscrimination in Employment.

The Lessor agrees: (a) not to discriminate in any manner against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex, marital status, national origin, ancestry or disability of a qualified individual with a disability; (b) to include a provision similar to that contained in subsection (a), above, in any subcontract except a subcontract for standard commercial supplies or raw materials; and (c) to post and to cause subcontractors to post in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting forth the substance of this clause. [COMAR 21.07.01.08; SF 13-219]

17.4 Contingent Fee Prohibition.

The Lessor warrants that it has not employed or retained any person, partnership, corporation, or other entity, other than a bona fide employee or agent working for the Lessor, to solicit or secure this Lease, and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any person, partnership, corporation, or other entity, other than a bona fide employee or agent, any fee or any other consideration contingent on the making of the Lease. [COMAR 21.07.01.09]

17.5 Efficiency Standards.

In further cooperation with the Executive Order 01.01.2001.06, the Lessor acknowledges, that to the benefit of both the Lessor and Lessee, the Lessor shall endeavor to maintain current IBC efficiency standards for all fixtures in the Demised Premises; to detect and repair leaks in distribution lines and plumbing fixtures; to retrofit or replace fixtures as required; to manage system pressure so as to reduce usage; and when feasible, install efficient landscape design and irrigation techniques and wastewater reclamation and recycling of water for non-potable applications.

17.6 Pre-existing Regulations.

The regulations set forth in Title 21 of the Code of Maryland Regulations (COMAR Title 21) in effect on the date of execution of the Lease, and referenced herein, are applicable to the Lease. [COMAR 21.07.01.17]

17.7 Financial Disclosure.

The Lessor shall comply with the provisions of Section 13-221 of the State Finance and Procurement Article, of the Annotated Code of Maryland, which requires that every business that enters into contracts, leases, or other agreements with the State of Maryland or its Units during a calendar year under which the business is to receive in the aggregate \$100,000 or more, shall, within 30 days of the time when the aggregate value of these contracts, leases, or agreements reaches \$100,000, file with the Secretary of State of Maryland certain specified information to include disclosure of beneficial ownership of the business. [COMAR 21.07.01.19]

17.8 Political Contribution Disclosure.

The Lessor shall comply with Sections 14- 101 through 14-108 of the Election Law Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, which requires that every person that enters into, during any 12 month period, one or more contracts, leases, or other agreements with the State, a county, or an incorporated municipality, or their agencies, involving a cumulative consideration of at least \$100,000 or more, shall file with the State Administrative Board of Election Laws a statement disclosing contributions to a candidate, or a series of such contributions, in a cumulative amount in excess of \$500 made during the reporting period to a candidate for elective office in any primary or general election. The statement shall be filed with the State Administrative Board of Election Laws: (1) before a sale, purchase or execution of a lease or contract by the State, a county, an incorporated municipality, or their agencies, and shall cover the preceding 24 months; and (2) if the contribution is made after sale, purchase or the execution of a lease or contract, then twice a year, throughout the lease or contract term, (a) within 5 days after the end of the 6-month period ending January 31; and (b) within 5 days after the end of the 6-month period ending July 31. [COMAR 21.07.01.20; SF 13-218 (7); SF 17-402]

17.9 Compliance with State Recycling Plan.

The Lessor understands that the Lease is subject to the provisions of Section 9-1706 of the Environment Article, Annotated Code of Maryland (Recycling Plan for State Government). Lessor shall ensure and facilitate the Lessee's participation in applicable State recycling plans and shall collect and property recycle recyclable materials. Lessor warrants that is has sufficient recyclable materials collection and/or transfer room(s), facility(ies), and/or equipment ("Lessor's Recycling Facilities") to ensure Lessee's compliance with Section 9-1706 and proper recycling of collected recyclable materials.

17.10 Retention of Records.

The Lessor shall retain and maintain all records and documents relating to this Lease for three years after final payment by the State hereunder or for such time period specified under any applicable statute of limitations, whichever is longer, and shall make said records available for inspection and audit by authorized representatives of the State, including the Procurement Officer or designee, at all reasonable times.

17.11 Representations and Warranties.

The Lessor hereby represents and warrants that:

- A. It is qualified to do business in the State of Maryland and that it will take such action as, from time to time hereafter, may be necessary to remain so qualified;
- B. It is not in arrears with respect to the payment of any monies due and owing the State of Maryland, or any department or Unit thereof, including but not limited to the payment of taxes and employee benefits, and that it shall not become so in arrears during the term of this Lease;
- It shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, and ordinances applicable to its activities and obligations under this Lease; and
- D. It shall obtain at its expense, all licenses, permits, insurance, and governmental approvals, if any, necessary to the performance of its

obligations under this Lease.

17.12 Addendum.

The Lessor agrees to fully complete, execute and/or comply with the affidavits and addenda that are attached to the Lease and fully incorporated as a part of the Lease by reference thereto.

17.13 Complete Writing.

The Lease contains, in writing, the full and complete understanding of the parties and the parties stipulate that there are no oral terms of this Lease.

17.14 Lease Amendments.

The Lease may be amended, but only in writing, signed and executed with all formalities and signatures with which this Lease is signed and executed.

17.15 Quiet Enjoyment.

The Lessor covenants that it has full right, power and authority to enter into the Lease and Lessor agrees to permit the Lessee quiet enjoyment of possession of the premises during the Term and any extension herein of the Lease, or for so long as Lessee shall not be in default hereunder, without hindrance, ejection or molestation by any person lawfully claiming by, through or under the Lessor.

17.16 Attornment.

If any proceedings are commenced for the foreclosure of any mortgage or deed of trust encumbering the Building, Land or the Property of which the Demised Premises are a part, or if Lessor sells, assigns or conveys all or a portion of the Property, Lessee may consider but shall not be obligated to attorn to the purchaser. The Lessee retains the right and shall be entitled to negotiate any benefits associated with the attornment of its rights and interests.

17.17 Subordination.

Upon the request of the Lessor, the Lessee may consider but shall not be obligated to subordinate its rights hereunder to the lien of any mortgage or mortgages, or the lien resulting from any other method of financing or refinancing, in force against the Land, Building, or Property at the time of the request of which the Demised Premises are a part. The Lessee retains the right and shall be entitled to negotiate any benefits associated with the subordination of its rights and interests.

17.18 Estoppel Certificates.

Lessee agrees at any time and from time to time in a format approved by the State, upon not less than fifteen (15) days prior notice by Lessor to execute, acknowledge and deliver to Lessor a statement in writing (sample attached and marked Exhibit "D" representing, among other matters, that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications, that the same is in full force and effect as modified and stating the modifications) and the dates to which the Rent and other charges have been paid in advance, if any, and stating whether or not, to the best knowledge of the signer of such a statement, Lessor is in default in performance of any covenant, agreement or condition contained in this Lease and, if so, specify each such default of which the signer may have knowledge, it being intended that any such statement delivered hereunder may be relied upon by any third party not a party to this Lease. The foregoing notwithstanding, Lessee shall not be estopped from asserting its rights and remedies regarding any default existing on or before the date hereof which Lessee did not have actual knowledge on the date of execution thereof.

17.19 Commercial Non-Discrimination.

As a condition of entering into the Lease, the Lessor represents and warrants that it will comply with the State's Commercial Nondiscrimination Policy, as described under Title 19 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland. As part of such compliance, the Lessor may not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, or on the basis of disability, or other unlawful forms of discrimination in the solicitation, selection, hiring, or commercial treatment of subcontractors, vendors, suppliers, or commercial customers, nor shall the Lessor retaliate against any person for reporting instances of such discrimination. Lessor shall provide equal opportunity for subcontractors, vendors, and suppliers to participate in all of its public sector and private sector subcontracting and supply opportunities, provided that nothing contained in this clause shall prohibit or limit otherwise lawful efforts to remedy the effects of marketplace discrimination that have occurred or are occurring in the marketplace. The Lessor understands and agrees that a material violation of this clause shall be considered a material breach of this Lease and may result in termination of this Lease, disqualification of the Lessor from participating in State contracts, or other sanctions. This clause is not enforceable by or for the benefit of, and creates no obligation to, any third party. [COMAR 21.07.01.26 (A)]. As a condition of entering into this Lease, the Lessor represents and warrants that every subcontract it has entered into or will enter into for the performance of any of the work under this Lease shall include a clause identical to COMAR Section above.

17.20 Cooperation.

As a condition of entering into the Lease, upon the request of the Commission on Civil Rights, and only after the filing of a complaint against the Lessor under Title 19 of the State Finance and Procurement Article, as amended from time to time, the Lessor agrees to: provide to the State within 60 days after the request a truthful and complete list of the names of all subcontractors, vendors, and suppliers that the Lessor has used in the past 4 years on any of its contracts that were undertaken within the State of Maryland, including the total dollar amount paid by the Lessor on each subcontract or supply contract. The Lessor further agrees to cooperate in any investigation conducted by the State pursuant to the State's Commercial Nondiscrimination Policy as set forth under Title 19 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, and to provide any documents relevant to any investigation that are requested by the State. The Lessor understands and agrees that violation of this clause shall be considered a material breach of the Lease and may result in contract termination, disqualification by the State from participating in State contracts, and other sanctions. [COMAR 21.07.01.26 (B)]

17.21 Interpretation.

As used herein, all references made (a) in the neuter, masculine or feminine gender shall be deemed made in all such genders, (b) in the singular or plural number shall be deemed made in the plural or singular number as well, (c) to Lessor or Lessee shall be deemed to refer to each Person so named above and its successors and assigns, and (d) to a Section, subsection, paragraph or subparagraph shall, unless expressly stated to the contrary therein, be deemed made to such part of this Lease. The headings of such parts are provided herein only for convenience of reference, and shall not be considered in construing their contents. Any writing or plat referred to herein as being attached hereto as an exhibit or otherwise designated herein as an exhibit hereto is hereby made a part hereof. The Lease may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one and the same document.

17.22 Nonsmoking.

Smoking is not permitted in State leased facilities. The Lessor shall reasonably provide a smoking area no closer than 25 feet away from any entrance or exit.

17.23 Waiver.

The waiver at any time by the Lessor or the Lessee of any particular covenant or condition of the Lease shall extend to the particular case only, for the particular time and in the particular manner specified, and such waiver shall not be construed or understood as waiving any further or other rights of any character whatsoever.

17.24 Noncompliance

If this contract is determined to have been awarded in violation of the Maryland Health Benefit Exchange Procurement Policies and Procedures, it shall be voidable at the election of MHBE.

END OF LEASE GENERAL CONDITIONS

[Signatures on next page]

[Signature page to MHBE Lease Agreement]

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease as of the Effective Date hereinabove set forth.

CONTRACTOR	MARYLAND HEALTH BENEFIT EXCHANGE
Ву:	By: Dr. Howard Haft, Acting Executive Director Or designee:
Date	
	Date
Approved for form and legal sufficiency this, 2017.	
Assistant Attorney General	

ATTACHMENT B - BID/PROPOSAL AFFIDAVIT

ıly
egal

B. CERTIFICATION REGARDING COMMERCIAL NONDISCRIMINATION

The undersigned Bidder/Offeror hereby certifies and agrees that the following information is correct: In preparing its Bid/Proposal on this project, the Bidder/Offeror has considered all Proposals submitted from qualified, potential subcontractors and suppliers, and has not engaged in "discrimination" as defined in § 19-103 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland. "Discrimination" means any disadvantage, difference, distinction, or preference in the solicitation, selection, hiring, or commercial treatment of a vendor, subcontractor, or commercial customer on the basis of race, color, religion, ancestry, or national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, sexual identity, or on the basis of disability or any otherwise unlawful use of characteristics regarding the vendor's, supplier's, or commercial customer's employees or owners. "Discrimination" also includes retaliating against any person or other entity for reporting any incident of "discrimination". Without limiting any other provision of the solicitation on this project, it is understood that, if the certification is false, such false certification constitutes grounds for the State to reject the Bid/Proposal submitted by the Bidder/Offeror on this project, and terminate any contract awarded based on the Bid/Proposal. As part of its Bid/Proposal, the Bidder/Offeror herewith submits a list of all instances within the past 4 years where there has been a final adjudicated determination in a legal or administrative proceeding in the State of Maryland that the Bidder/Offeror discriminated against subcontractors, vendors, suppliers, or commercial customers, and a description of the status or resolution of that determination, including any remedial action taken. Bidder/Offeror agrees to comply in all respects with the State's Commercial Nondiscrimination Policy as described under Title 19 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland.

B-1. CERTIFICATION REGARDING MINORITY BUSINESS ENTERPRISES.

The undersigned Bidder/Offeror hereby certifies and agrees that it has fully complied with the State Minority Business Enterprise Law, State Finance and Procurement Article, § 14-308(a)(2), Annotated Code of Maryland, which provides that, except as otherwise provided by law, a contractor may not identify a certified minority business enterprise in a Bid/Proposal and:

(1) Fail to request, receive, or otherwise obtain authorization from the certified minority business enterprise to identify the certified minority Proposal;

- (2) Fail to notify the certified minority business enterprise before execution of the contract of its inclusion in the Bid/Proposal;
- (3) Fail to use the certified minority business enterprise in the performance of the contract; or
- (4) Pay the certified minority business enterprise solely for the use of its name in the Bid/Proposal.

Without limiting any other provision of the solicitation on this project, it is understood that if the certification is false, such false certification constitutes grounds for the State to reject the Bid/Proposal submitted by the Bidder/Offeror on this project, and terminate any contract awarded based on the Bid/Proposal.

B-2. CERTIFICATION REGARDING VETERAN-OWNED SMALL BUSINESS ENTERPRISES.

The undersigned Bidder/Offeror hereby certifies and agrees that it has fully complied with the State veteran-owned small business enterprise law, State Finance and Procurement Article, § 14-605, Annotated Code of Maryland, which provides that a person may not:

- (1) Knowingly and with intent to defraud, fraudulently obtain, attempt to obtain, or aid another person in fraudulently obtaining or attempting to obtain public money, procurement contracts, or funds expended under a procurement contract to which the person is not entitled under this title;
- (2) Knowingly and with intent to defraud, fraudulently represent participation of a veteran—owned small business enterprise in order to obtain or retain a Bid/Proposal preference or a procurement contract;
- (3) Willfully and knowingly make or subscribe to any statement, declaration, or other document that is fraudulent or false as to any material matter, whether or not that falsity or fraud is committed with the knowledge or consent of the person authorized or required to present the declaration, statement, or document;
- (4) Willfully and knowingly aid, assist in, procure, counsel, or advise the preparation or presentation of a declaration, statement, or other document that is fraudulent or false as to any material matter, regardless of whether that falsity or fraud is committed with the knowledge or consent of the person authorized or required to present the declaration, statement, or document;
- (5) Willfully and knowingly fail to file any declaration or notice with the unit that is required by COMAR 21.11.12; or
- (6) Establish, knowingly aid in the establishment of, or exercise control over a business found to have violated a provision of § B-2(1)-(5) of this regulation.

C. AFFIRMATION REGARDING BRIBERY CONVICTIONS

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

Neither I, nor to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, the above business (as is defined in Section 16-101(b) of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland), or any of its officers, directors, partners, controlling stockholders, or any of its employees directly involved in the business's contracting activities including obtaining or performing contracts with public bodies has been convicted of, or has had probation before judgment imposed pursuant to Criminal Procedure

Article, § 6-220, Annotated Code of Maryland, or has pleaded nolo contendere to a charge of, bribery, attempted bribery, or conspiracy to bribe in violation of Maryland law, or of the law of any other state or federal law, except as follows (indicate the reasons why the affirmation cannot be given and list any conviction, plea, or imposition of probation before judgment with the date, court, official or administrative body, the sentence or disposition, the name(s) of person(s) involved, and their current positions and responsibilities with the business):

D. AFFIRMATION REGARDING OTHER CONVICTIONS

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

Neither I, nor to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, the above business, or any of its officers, directors, partners, controlling stockholders, or any of its employees directly involved in the business's contracting activities including obtaining or performing contracts with public bodies, has:

- (1) Been convicted under state or federal statute of:
- (a) A criminal offense incident to obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public or private contract; or
- (b) Fraud, embezzlement, theft, forgery, falsification or destruction of records or receiving stolen property;
- (2) Been convicted of any criminal violation of a state or federal antitrust statute;
- (3) Been convicted under the provisions of Title 18 of the United States Code for violation of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq., or the Mail Fraud Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1341 et seq., for acts in connection with the submission of Bids/Proposals for a public or private contract;
- (4) Been convicted of a violation of the State Minority Business Enterprise Law, § 14-308 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland;
- (5) Been convicted of a violation of § 11-205.1 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland;
- (6) Been convicted of conspiracy to commit any act or omission that would constitute grounds for conviction or liability under any law or statute described in subsections (1)—(5) above;
- (7) Been found civilly liable under a state or federal antitrust statute for acts or omissions in connection with the submission of Bids/Proposals for a public or private contract;
- (8) Been found in a final adjudicated decision to have violated the Commercial Nondiscrimination Policy under Title 19 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland with regard to a public or private contract;

- (9) Been convicted of a violation of one or more of the following provisions of the Internal Revenue Code:
- (a) §7201, Attempt to Evade or Defeat Tax;
- (b) §7203, Willful Failure to File Return, Supply Information, or Pay Tax,
- (c) §7205, Fraudulent Withholding Exemption Certificate or Failure to Supply Information,
- (d) §7205, Fraud and False Statements, or
- (e) §7207, Fraudulent Returns, Statements, or Other Documents;
- (10) Been convicted of a violation of 18 U.S.C. §286, Conspiracy to Defraud the Government with Respect to Claims, 18 U.S.C. §287, False, Fictitious, or Fraudulent Claims, or 18 U.S.C. §371, Conspiracy to Defraud the United States;
- (11) Been convicted of a violation of the Tax-General Article, Title 13, Subtitle 7 or Subtitle 10, Annotated Code of Maryland;
- (12) Been found to have willfully or knowingly violated State Prevailing Wage Laws as provided in the State Finance and Procurement Article, Title 17, Subtitle 2, Annotated Code of Maryland, if:
- (a) A court:
- (i) Made the finding; and
- (ii) Decision became final; or
- (b) The finding was:
- (i) Made in a contested case under the Maryland Administrative Procedure Act; and
- (ii) Not overturned on judicial review;
- (13) Been found to have willfully or knowingly violated State Living Wage Laws as provided in the State Finance and Procurement Article, Title 18, Annotated Code of Maryland, if:
- (a) A court:
- (i) Made the finding; and
- (ii) Decision became final; or
- (b) The finding was:
- (i) Made in a contested case under the Maryland Administrative Procedure Act; and
- (ii) Not overturned on judicial review;
- (14) Been found to have willfully or knowingly violated the Labor and Employment Article, Title 3, Subtitles 3, 4, or 5, or Title 5, Annotated Code of Maryland, if:
- (a) A court:
- (i) Made the finding; and
- (ii) Decision became final; or

- (b) The finding was:
- (i) Made in a contested case under the Maryland Administrative Procedure Act; and
- (ii) Not overturned on judicial review; or
- (15) Admitted in writing or under oath, during the course of an official investigation or other proceedings, acts or omissions that would constitute grounds for conviction or liability under any law or statute described in §§ B and C and subsections D(1)—(14) above, except as follows (indicate reasons why the affirmations cannot be given, and list any conviction, plea, or imposition of probation before judgment with the date, court, official or administrative body, the sentence or disposition, the name(s) of the person(s) involved and their current positions and responsibilities with the business, and the status of any debarment):

E. AFFIRMATION REGARDING DEBARMENT

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

Neither I, nor to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, the above business, or any of its officers, directors, partners, controlling stockholders, or any of its employees directly involved in the business's contracting activities, including obtaining or performing contracts with public bodies, has ever been suspended or debarred (including being issued a limited denial of participation) by any public entity, except as follows (list each debarment or suspension providing the dates of the suspension or debarment, the name of the public entity and the status of the proceedings, the name(s) of the person(s) involved and their current positions and responsibilities with the business, the grounds of the debarment or suspension, and the details of each person's involvement in any activity that formed the grounds of the debarment or suspension).

F. AFFIRMATION REGARDING DEBARMENT OF RELATED ENTITIES

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

- (1) The business was not established and it does not operate in a manner designed to evade the application of or defeat the purpose of debarment pursuant to Sections 16-101, et seq., of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland; and
- (2) The business is not a successor, assignee, subsidiary, or affiliate of a suspended or debarred business, except as follows (you must indicate the reasons why the affirmations cannot be given without qualification):

_____.

G. SUBCONTRACT AFFIRMATION

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

Neither I, nor to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, the above business, has knowingly entered into a contract with a public body under which a person debarred or suspended under Title 16 of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland will provide, directly or indirectly, supplies, services, architectural services, construction related services, leases of real property, or construction.

H. AFFIRMATION REGARDING COLLUSION

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

Neither I, nor to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, the above business has:

- (1) Agreed, conspired, connived, or colluded to produce a deceptive show of competition in the compilation of the accompanying Bid/Proposal that is being submitted;
- (2) In any manner, directly or indirectly, entered into any agreement of any kind to fix the Bid/Proposal price of the Bidder/Offeror or of any competitor, or otherwise taken any action in restraint of free competitive bidding in connection with the contract for which the accompanying Bid/Proposal is submitted.

I. CERTIFICATION OF TAX PAYMENT

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

Except as validly contested, the business has paid, or has arranged for payment of, all taxes due the State of Maryland and has filed all required returns and reports with the Comptroller of the Treasury, the State Department of Assessments and Taxation, and the Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation, as applicable, and will have paid all withholding taxes due the State of Maryland prior to final settlement.

J. CONTINGENT FEES

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

The business has not employed or retained any person, partnership, corporation, or other entity, other than a bona fide employee, bona fide agent, bona fide salesperson, or commercial selling agency working for the business, to solicit or secure the Contract, and that the business has not paid or agreed to pay any person, partnership, corporation, or other entity, other than a bona fide employee, bona fide agent, bona fide salesperson, or commercial selling agency, any fee or any other consideration contingent on the making of the Contract.

K. CERTIFICATION REGARDING INVESTMENTS IN IRAN

- (1) The undersigned certifies that, in accordance with State Finance and Procurement Article, §17-705, Annotated Code of Maryland:
- (a) It is not identified on the list created by the Board of Public Works as a person engaging in investment activities in Iran as described in State Finance and Procurement Article, §17-702, Annotated Code of Maryland; and
- (b) It is not engaging in investment activities in Iran as described in State Finance and Procurement Article, §17-702, Annotated Code of Maryland.
- 2. The undersigned is unable to make the above certification regarding its investment activities in Iran due to the following activities: ______
- L. CONFLICT MINERALS ORIGINATED IN THE DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO (FOR SUPPLIES AND SERVICES CONTRACTS)

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

The business has complied with the provisions of State Finance and Procurement Article, §14-413, Annotated Code of Maryland governing proper disclosure of certain information regarding conflict minerals originating in the Democratic Republic of Congo or its neighboring countries as required by federal law.

M. I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

Any claims of environmental attributes made relating to a product or service included in the Bid or Proposal are consistent with the Federal Trade Commission's Guides for the Use of Environmental Marketing Claims as provided in 16 CFR §260, that apply to claims about the environmental attributes of a product, package, or service in connection with the marketing, offering for sale, or sale of such item or service.

N. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I ACKNOWLEDGE THAT this Affidavit is to be furnished to the Procurement Officer and may be distributed to units of: (1) the State of Maryland; (2) counties or other subdivisions of the State of Maryland; (3) other states; and (4) the federal government. I further acknowledge that this Affidavit is subject to applicable laws of the United States and the State of Maryland, both criminal and civil, and that nothing in this Affidavit or any contract resulting from the submission of this Bid/Proposal shall be construed to supersede, amend, modify or waive, on behalf of the State of Maryland, or any unit of the State of Maryland having jurisdiction, the exercise of any statutory right or remedy conferred by the Constitution and the laws of Maryland with respect to any misrepresentation made or any violation of the obligations, terms and covenants undertaken by the above business with respect to (1) this Affidavit, (2) the contract, and (3) other Affidavits comprising part of the contract.

	SUBMIT THIS AFFIDAVIT WITH BID
	(signature of Authorized Representative and Affiant)
Ву:	(print name of Authorized Representative and Affiant)
Date:	<u> </u>
THIS AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND C	CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION, AND BELIEF
I DO SOLEIVINLY DECLARE AND A	FFINIVI UNDER THE PENALTIES OF PERJORT THAT THE CONTENTS OF

ATTACHMENT C – CONTRACT AFFIDAVIT

A. AUTHORITY		
I hereby affirm that I,authorized representative ofauthority to make this affidavit on believed.	(name of business entity) a	and that I possess the legal
B. CERTIFICATION OF REGISTRATION (ASSESSMENTS AND TAXATION	OR QUALIFICATION WITH THE STATE	E DEPARTMENT OF
I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:		
The business named above is a (check	applicable box):	
(1) Corporation — \square domestic or	□ foreign;	
(2) Limited Liability Company —	□ domestic or □ foreign;	
(3) Partnership — \square domestic or	□ foreign;	
(4) Statutory Trust — □ domestic	or □ foreign;	
(5) □ Sole Proprietorship.		
and is registered or qualified as required in good standing both in Maryland an organized, and has filed all of its annual Department of Assessments and Taxa filed with the State Department of As	d (IF APPLICABLE) in the jurisdiction all reports, together with filing fees, tion. The name and address of its re	where it is presently with the Maryland State
Name and Department ID Number:	Address:	

and that if it does business under a trade name, it has filed a certificate with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation that correctly identifies that true name and address of the principal or owner as:

Name and Department ID	
Number:	_Address:

C. FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE AFFIRMATION

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

I am aware of, and the above business will comply with, the provisions of State Finance and Procurement Article, §13221, Annotated Code of Maryland, which require that every business that enters into contracts, leases, or other agreements with the State of Maryland or its agencies during a calendar year under which the business is to receive in the aggregate \$100,000 or more shall, within 30 days of the time when the aggregate value of the contracts, leases, or other agreements reaches \$100,000, file with the Secretary of State of Maryland certain specified information to include disclosure of beneficial ownership of the business.

D. POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE AFFIRMATION

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

I am aware of, and the above business will comply with, Election Law Article, Title 14, Annotated Code of Maryland, which requires that every person that enters into a contract for a procurement with the State, a county, or a municipal corporation, or other political subdivision of the State, during a calendar year in which the person receives a contract with a governmental entity in the amount of \$200,000 or more, shall file with the State Board of Elections statements disclosing: (a) any contributions made during the reporting period to a candidate for elective office in any primary or general election; and (b) the name of each candidate to whom one or more contributions in a cumulative amount of \$500 or more were made during the reporting period. The statement shall be filed with the State Board of Elections: (a) before execution of a contract by the State, a county, a municipal corporation, or other political subdivision of the State, and shall cover the 24 months prior to when a contract was awarded; and (b) if the contribution is made after the execution of a contract, then twice a year, throughout the contract term, on: (i) February 5, to cover the six (6) month period ending January 31; and (ii) August 5, to cover the six (6) month period ending July 31.

E. DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE

(Applicable to all contracts unless the contract is for a law enforcement agency and the agency head or the agency head's designee has determined that application of COMAR 21.11.08 and this certification would be inappropriate in connection with the law enforcement agency's undercover operations.)

I CERTIFY THAT:

- (1) Terms defined in COMAR 21.11.08 shall have the same meanings when used in this certification.
- (2) By submission of its Bid/Proposal, the business, if other than an individual, certifies and agrees that, with respect to its employees to be employed under a contract resulting from this solicitation, the business shall:
 - (a) Maintain a workplace free of drug and alcohol abuse during the term of the contract;
- (b) Publish a statement notifying its employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of drugs, and the abuse of drugs or alcohol is prohibited in the business' workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of these prohibitions;
 - (c) Prohibit its employees from working under the influence of drugs or alcohol;
- (d) Not hire or assign to work on the contract anyone who the business knows, or in the exercise of due diligence should know, currently abuses drugs or alcohol and is not actively engaged in a bona fide drug or alcohol abuse assistance or rehabilitation program;
- (e) Promptly inform the appropriate law enforcement agency of every drug-related crime that occurs in its workplace if the business has observed the violation or otherwise has reliable information that a violation has occurred;
 - (f) Establish drug and alcohol abuse awareness programs to inform its employees about:
 - (i) The dangers of drug and alcohol abuse in the workplace;
 - (ii) The business's policy of maintaining a drug and alcohol free workplace;
 - (iii) Any available drug and alcohol counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
 - (iv) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees who abuse drugs and alcohol in the workplace;
- (g) Provide all employees engaged in the performance of the contract with a copy of the statement required by §E(2)(b), above;
- (h) Notify its employees in the statement required by §E(2)(b), above, that as a condition of continued employment on the contract, the employee shall:
 - (i) Abide by the terms of the statement; and
 - (ii) Notify the employer of any criminal drug or alcohol abuse conviction for an offense occurring in the workplace not later than 5 days after a conviction;
- (i) Notify the procurement officer within 10 days after receiving notice under §E(2)(h)(ii), above, or otherwise receiving actual notice of a conviction;

- (j) Within 30 days after receiving notice under §E(2)(h)(ii), above, or otherwise receiving actual notice of a conviction, impose either of the following sanctions or remedial measures on any employee who is convicted of a drug or alcohol abuse offense occurring in the workplace:
 - (i) Take appropriate personnel action against an employee, up to and including termination; or
 - (ii) Require an employee to satisfactorily participate in a bona fide drug or alcohol abuse assistance or rehabilitation program; and
- (k) Make a good faith effort to maintain a drug and alcohol free workplace through implementation of E(2)(a), above.
- (3) If the business is an individual, the individual shall certify and agree as set forth in §E(4), below, that the individual shall not engage in the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of drugs or the abuse of drugs or alcohol in the performance of the contract.
 - (4) I acknowledge and agree that:
 - (a) The award of the contract is conditional upon compliance with COMAR 21.11.08 and this certification;
- (b) The violation of the provisions of COMAR 21.11.08 or this certification shall be cause to suspend payments under, or terminate the contract for default under COMAR 21.07.01.11 or 21.07.03.15, as applicable; and
- (c) The violation of the provisions of COMAR 21.11.08 or this certification in connection with the contract may, in the exercise of the discretion of the Board of Public Works, result in suspension and debarment of the business under COMAR 21.08.03.

F. CERTAIN AFFIRMATIONS VALID

I FURTHER AFFIRM THAT:

To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, each of the affirmations, certifications, or acknowledgements contained in that certain Bid/Proposal Affidavit dated _______, 201____, and executed by me for the purpose of obtaining the contract to which this Exhibit is attached remains true and correct in all respects as if made as of the date of this Contract Affidavit and as if fully set forth herein.

I DO SOLEMNLY DECLARE AND AFFIRM UNDER THE PENALTIES OF PERJURY THAT THE CONTENTS OF THIS AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION, AND BELIEF.

Date:	
Ву:	(printed name of Authorized Representative and Affiant)
	(signature of Authorized Representative and Affiant